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IN THE COURT OF THE TRANSPORT TRIBUNAL

Appeal 2008/410

BRIAN HILL WASTE MANAGEMENT Ltd

Appellant

- and –

SECRETARY OF STATE FOR TRANSPORT

Respondent




Before:
Judge Brodrick






George Inch






Stuart James

____________

ORDER

____________

SITTING in London on 30th January 2009

UPON READING the decision of the Deputy Traffic Commissioner for the West Midland Traffic Area made on 2 June 2008

AND UPON HEARING Gordon Nardell, counsel, instructed by the Treasury Solicitor for the Respondent and the Appellant requesting that the Appeal be heard in its absence.

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that this appeal BE DISMISSED
BRIAN HILL WASTE MANAGEMENT Ltd

Appellant

- and –

SECRETARY OF STATE FOR TRANSPORT

Respondent

2008/410
___________

REASONS

___________

1. This is an appeal against the decision of the Deputy Traffic Commissioner for the West Midland Traffic Area to refuse to grant the Appellant a standard national operator’s licence on the grounds of lack of good repute.  The Appellant’s application for a new licence was considered at a Public Inquiry to which another company, Brian Hill Haulage and Plant Ltd. (“Haulage”), had also been called.  At the conclusion of the Public Inquiry the licence held by Haulage was revoked on the grounds that the company was no longer of appropriate financial standing or good repute.  Although there is no appeal against that decision there are two reasons why it is desirable to refer to the facts of that case.  First, it is necessary to know something about the case in relation to Haulage in order to understand the decision in the case of the Appellant.  Second, some of the arguments put forward on behalf of Haulage raise important issues concerning the relationship between the operator licensing regime and the position of a company which has gone into administration.  We believe that some general guidance on the relationship between the two regimes would be helpful.

2. The factual background to the appeal appears from the documents, the transcript and the Traffic Commissioner’s written decision and is as follows:-

(i) Haulage was the holder of a standard national goods vehicle operator’s licence which authorised the use of 59 vehicles and 1 trailer.

(ii) On 22nd September 2007 the Appellant applied for a standard national operator’s licence to authorise 21 vehicles and 1 trailer.  The link to the licence held by Haulage was disclosed in the application and it was indicated that the licence held by Haulage would be surrendered if the new licence was granted.  In answer to the question as to whether the person signing the form or any partner or director was involved, or had in the past 12 months been involved, with a company which had gone into administration the box under the heading ‘No’ was ticked.  While this was correct on the date when the application was signed, it was no longer correct on the date when the application was received, namely 26th October 2007.  However it is not clear when the application was sent.

(iii) The application included an application for an Interim Licence, the explanation for that part of the application being: “We are due to complete the purchase of a company which operates these vehicles and require the Interim Licence to continue trading”.

(iv) In October 2007 the Directors of Haulage attempted, unsuccessfully, to negotiate a payment plan with HM Revenue and Customs in respect of outstanding arrears.

(v) On 5th October 2007 the directors of Haulage gave notice that they intended to apply for the appointment of an Administrator.  On 12th October 2007 an Administrator for Haulage was appointed by the High Court.

(vi) Early in October 2007 an agreement was reached between Haulage, the Administrator, the Appellant and three Directors of the two companies.  The copies of the agreement in the appeal bundles are undated and unsigned on behalf of Haulage or the Administrator, though the Solicitors for the Administrator have confirmed that they hold a duly executed copy.  In essence the agreement provided that Haulage would allow the Appellant to use its assets, including the vehicles and the operator’s licence, to operate the business of Haulage as Managers.  The Appellant agreed in return to pay a fee of £1,000 per week to haulage and to meet all expenses, outgoings and liabilities accruing or incurred in respect of the business of Haulage.  All money receivable in respect of the business of Haulage was to belong to and be payable to the Appellant.  The Appellant was to ensure that it had, at all times, all necessary licences required to carry on the business.

(vii) On 21st November 2007 the Traffic Area Office wrote to the Appellant company to make a final attempt to obtain the financial information needed to support the application.  The type of information required was set out in an annex to the letter.  The annex also sought an explanation as to why the fact that Haulage had gone into administration had not been mentioned on the application or in a telephone conversation.  An Administrator’s report was requested, if available, as well as details of the circumstances resulting in the administration of Haulage.

(viii) On 6th December 2007 the Administrator provided a statement of his proposals.  The way in which this came to the attention of the Deputy Traffic Commissioner at the Public Inquiry is a matter of concern to the Appellant.  It will be considered at a later stage.  Under the heading of ‘Asset Realisation’ the Administrator said:-

“During discussions with the directors it became clear that it would not be possible for the Administrator to trade the company.  Thereby, as Administrator, I have entered into a Business Licence agreement with Brian Hill Waste Management Limited, (the Appellant), who is paying £1,000 per week for the use of the company’s chattel assets until I can conclude a going concern sale with interested party”. 

(ix) The Estimated Statement of Affairs forming part of the Administrator’s statement disclosed a total deficiency of £404,374.78.  There were significant debts due to HM Revenue and Customs in respect of PAYE, National Insurance Contributions and VAT and also to Trade and Expense Creditors.

(x) In December 2007 staff at the Traffic Area Office prepared a ‘New Application Referral’.  The majority of the document was prepared by a member of staff, after which there is a recommendation by her Team Leader, and a decision by the Traffic Commissioner.  The main body of the document began by detailing the steps taken to obtain evidence that the Appellant was of appropriate financial standing.  Reference was made to the fact that Haulage had gone into administration on 12th October 2007 and that three of the directors of Haulage were also named as directors of the Appellant company.  Even after the requests for further financial information there was insufficient evidence to support the number of vehicles set out in the application.  Criticism was made of the failure to mention that Haulage had gone into administration and a recommendation was made that the application should be considered at a Public Inquiry.  The Team Leader referred to the fact that a false declaration had been made.  His recommendations were that the application for an interim licence should be refused, that the main application should be considered at a Public Inquiry and that Haulage should be called to the same Public Inquiry.  The Traffic Commissioner agreed with those recommendations and added that there should be a check to see whether there had been any illegal trading.

(xi) On 7th February 2008 the Appellant wrote to the Traffic Commissioner requesting that the refusal to grant an interim licence should be reconsidered.  The letter stated that the 21 vehicles and 1 trailer the subject of the Appellant’s application: “are currently being operated by us on behalf of Brian Hill Haulage and Plant Ltd, which went into administration on the 12 October 2007”.  The letter went on to state: “Brian Hill Waste Management Ltd is owned and operated by the same shareholders and Directors as Brian Hill Haulage and Plant Ltd, which operated from Moor Street from 1999 and received no infringements or warnings from your office”.

(xii) On 13th February 2008 the renewed application for an interim licence was refused.  The letter continued: “The Traffic Commissioner has asked me to inform you that your vehicles should not be operated under the licence held by Brian Hill Haulage & Plant Hire Ltd, …… which is currently in administration.  He has also asked me to remind you that if you do operate vehicles without a valid licence it will be a very serious matter which would go against your repute”.

(xiii) On 26th February 2008 a Traffic Examiner, Mr. Breakwell, was at a roadside check, when a vehicle, BV 53 CKO, driven by James Smart, bearing an operator’s licence disc issued to Haulage, was stopped.  It was apparent from the tachograph charts which were examined that Mr. Smart was the regular driver of the vehicle.  Mr. Smart was in possession of a delivery note issued by the Appellant, which was copied and produced at the Public Inquiry.

(xiv) On 28th February 2008 BV 53 CKO, again driven by Mr. Smart, was directed to a multi-agency check site.  The same operator’s licence disc was displayed, but this time it was retained.  By this stage Mr. Brakewell was aware that Haulage had gone into administration and it appeared to him, from a conversation with the Administrator, that the company was still trading 

(xv) On 12th March 2008 Haulage was called to a Public Inquiry to consider whether it was no longer of appropriate financial standing or good repute.  It had come to the attention of the Traffic Commissioner that the company had been placed in administration on 12th October 2007, that it was connected to the application for a new licence being made by the Appellant and that there had been a failure to notify a change in ownership or events which might affect the requirement to be of appropriate financial standing.

(xvi) Also on 12th March 2008 the Appellant company was called to the same Public Inquiry to consider its application for a standard national operator’s licence to authorise the use of 21 vehicles and one trailer.  Concern was expressed as to whether the Appellant was of appropriate financial standing or good repute.  The reasons given were the connection with the licence held by Haulage, the fact that Haulage was in administration and the question of whether vehicles had been operated under the Haulage licence following the order placing the company in administration.  

(xvii) The Public Inquiry took place before the Deputy Traffic Commissioner on 17th April 2008.    Mr. Marsh appeared on behalf of the Appellant company, though he said at the start of the Public Inquiry that he was happy to represent Haulage as well on the basis that he was instructed by Mr. McNaughton, a director of both companies, who was also present.  Miss Beard, from the Administrator’s Solicitors said that she was present ‘to assist’, rather than to represent the Administrator.

(xviii) Immediately after the introductions the Deputy Traffic Commissioner put the blunt question is there any basis for not revoking the licence held by Haulage, given that the company is in administration?  Mr. Marsh replied, in effect, that revocation was inevitable because there was insufficient finance.

(xix) Mr. Marsh went on to produce a bundle of documents dealing with finance for the Appellant company.  He asserted, and the Deputy Traffic Commissioner accepted, that they provided sufficient evidence to show that the Appellant company was of adequate financial standing.

(xx) The Deputy Traffic Commissioner went on to say that he had read the documents, which indicated that the Appellant company was created just before Haulage went into administration and that an agreement had been made between the Appellant and the Administrator to use the chattels owned by Haulage to continue the business.  He referred to the warning in the correspondence about the Appellant company using vehicles specified on the licence issued to Haulage, saying that this was something which he would want to know about.  Mr. Marsh responded that while there was no dispute that the vehicles had been used the contention was that they were being used under the agreement which provided for the Appellant to manage the business run by Haulage, which was continuing to trade.  When Mr. Marsh said that it was unclear whether the Administrator had made an application under Regulation 31 of the Goods Vehicles (Licensing of Operators) Regulations 1995, (“Regulation 31”), the Deputy Traffic Commissioner replied that the short answer was that he had not done so.  Miss Beard was asked whether she knew if such an application had been made, but she was unable to assist.  The Deputy Traffic Commissioner brought the initial exchanges to an end by indicating that it appeared to him, from reading the papers, that the issue was one of repute, as to which the burden of proof was on the Appellant, as the applicant for a licence.

(xxi) Mr. McNaughton then gave evidence.  He said that he became a Director of Haulage on 17th August 2001, when he joined the company.  He said that throughout the six years during which he was a director he was not aware of any problems in relation to prohibitions, tachograph infringements or MOT failures.  The fleet had, at one stage, been increased to 59 vehicles for a particular contract but by the time the company went into administration the number had dropped to 25.

(xxii) Mr. McNaughton said that the Appellant company was formed in September 2007 in order to divide the business of Haulage so that 10 tipper lorries were left with Haulage and the waste management vehicles were transferred to the Appellant.  He was referred to the Appellant’s application for an operator’s licence and asked whether, as at 22nd September 2007, he was aware that Haulage was in financial difficulty.  He said that he was not because the only creditor with whom there were problems was the Revenue and Haulage was seeking to negotiate monthly payments with them.  When the negotiations failed and payment in full was demanded the Directors sought financial advice and steps were then taken to appoint the Administrator.  Mr. McNaughton denied that the Appellant’s licence application had been put in so that a new company could arise out of the ashes of the old one.

(xxiii) The question of unlawful use of the vehicles on the licence was then raised.  Mr. McNaughton referred to the terms of the agreement.  He said that he believed that the Administrator had the right, under the provisions of the Enterprise Act 2002, [“the 2002 Act”], to appoint the Appellant as the manager of the business operated by Haulage, with the object of maintaining the operation of the business.  He said that when the Appellant received the letter of 13th February 2008, (see paragraph 2(xii) above), they took independent legal advice from a Mr. Cutler and referred to the Administrator and they were told that the 2002 Act enabled the Administrator to do what he had done.  The Deputy Traffic Commissioner asked whether he could see the advice which the Appellant had been given.  Mr. McNaughton replied that he did not have the advice in writing but could get it if the Deputy Traffic Commissioner wished.  When pressed further Mr. McNaughton said that he deemed the licence agreement to be quite adequate.  He accepted that he had not replied to the letter, explaining that by then the Appellant had been called to a Public Inquiry and that, although he remained a Director of Haulage he had no power to act on behalf of that company following the appointment of the Administrator.

(xxiv) The Deputy Traffic Commissioner then asked about the document recovered on 26th February when the vehicle driven by Mr. Smart was stopped.  Mr. McNaughton replied that the document served two purposes.  One purpose was as part of the paper trail to prove ‘that they had been to do the job’ and the other was as a waste transfer note for the purposes of the Environment Act.  Mr. McNaughton went on to say that the Appellant had a Waste Carrier Registration, though he could not say when it was obtained.  He said that the Waste Disposal Licence had been in the name of the Directors for a number of years but was transferred to the Appellant in September 2007.

(xxv) The Deputy Traffic Commissioner then asked a series of questions about the use of the vehicle which was stopped on 26th February 2008.  They are sufficiently important to set out in full:

“D T C: So the vehicle that is being used here BV53 CKO, was a vehicle that was formerly used by the haulage company?

McN: Yes Sir.

D T C:
This particular job, is a job being conducted by the Waste Management company?

McN: That’s right.

D T C: With the Waste Management company’s driver, Mr. Smart?

McN: Yes

D T C: Waste Management company do the invoicing for this do they?

McN: That’s right.”

Mr. McNaughton went on to say that he thought that it was legally acceptable for the Appellant to use a vehicle, specified on the licence issued to Haulage, in this way because the Administrator, as an officer of the court, had signed the agreement under which the operation was taking place and he had taken independent advice about it.

(xxvi) Mr. McNaughton was then asked why the Traffic Commissioner was not notified that haulage had gone into Administration.  He replied that he was not the Transport Manager and that he did not know that the Traffic Commissioner should have been notified.  He added that once Haulage was in Administration the directors lost all of their powers, because it was then for the Administrator to act on behalf of the company.

(xxvii) The Deputy Traffic Commissioner then asked Miss Beard whether she could assist on any of the matters which had been raised with Mr. McNaughton.  She said that she was aware that Gareth Hughes, an employee of the firm of which the Administrator was a partner, had been in contact with the Traffic Commissioner and she produced a letter, dated 7th March 2008 in which the Administrator’s attention was specifically drawn to Regulation 31 and he was asked to complete an application under Regulation 31 no later than 28th March 2008 “if it was his intention (or the intention of any other person) to carry on transport operations under the authority of the Haulage licence”.  In the alternative the Administrator was requested to surrender the licence and the licence discs.  The Traffic Commissioner received no response to this letter. 

(xxviii)  Miss Beard then went on to raise the question of whether the Deputy Traffic Commissioner had any jurisdiction to revoke the licence held by Haulage in the absence of the leave of the court or the consent of the Administrator.  She prefaced her remarks by saying that it was an area that she had not wanted to go into.  We will consider this question in greater detail in due course.  She said that she did not believe that the Administrator believed that he was acting unlawfully, that his actions were taken in good faith and with the intention of protecting the rescue of Haulage.

(xxix) Mr. Marsh sought to persuade the Deputy Traffic Commissioner that the way in which the Appellant was operating under the management agreement did not contravene s. 2 of the Goods Vehicles (Licensing of Operators) Act 1995, [“the 1995 Act”].  He submitted that it would be more convenient to deal with the Appellant’s repute first, because if a licence was granted to the Appellant, the issue of jurisdiction in relation to Haulage could be avoided.  The Deputy Traffic Commissioner indicated that he was minded to deliver a written decision and he invited both Mr. Marsh and Miss Beard to provide written submission to develop the points which they were making.

(xxx) In the event Mr. Marsh did produce some written submissions but Miss Beard did not.  The written decision was delayed for a time while the Deputy Traffic Commissioner waited for a response from Miss Beard and this was a matter of concern to the Appellant’s advisers.

(xxxi) The Deputy Traffic Commissioner gave a written decision dated 2nd June 2008.  He set out the background to the Appellant’s application, a summary of the evidence given at the Public Inquiry and a summary of the submissions made by Mr. Marsh and Miss Beard.

(xxxii) The Deputy Traffic Commissioner then dealt with the position of Haulage.  He did not accept that the Appellant company was created for the sole purpose of furthering a restructuring exercise.  He concluded that the debts owed by Haulage were large and of long duration and that the Appellant company was created for the specific purpose of carrying on the business of Haulage, in view of its impending insolvency.  The Deputy Traffic Commissioner concluded that the Administrator’s comments, quoted at paragraph 2(viii) above, explained the absence of any application under Regulation 31, though not the absence of any reply to the letter of 7th March 2008.  He went on to conclude that the Directors of Haulage should have informed the Traffic Commissioner about the financial difficulties and the impending Administration and that they had ample opportunity to do so before Haulage went into administration.  He concluded that they had deliberately chosen not to inform the Traffic Commissioner.  In the light of those findings he concluded Haulage had lost its good repute and that it lacked appropriate financial standing.  He referred to the submission that he was precluded from revoking the licence but concluded that in the light of his findings he was required to do so.  The licence held by Haulage was therefore revoked.

(xxxiii)  Turning to the position of the Appellant the Deputy Traffic Commissioner concluded that the agreement, which purported to authorise the Appellant to conduct the business of Haulage using that company’s operator’s licence, was unlawful for two reasons.  The first was that the business being conducted after the Administration order was being conducted by the Appellant, not by or through the Administrator, who had not chosen to invoke Regulation 31.  It was the Appellant company which was the operator of the vehicles and it was doing so in contravention of s. 2.  The second was that the transfer or assignment of the licence held by Haulage was in itself unlawful as being contrary to s. 48 of the 1995 Act.  The Deputy Traffic Commissioner went on to conclude that the illegality of the arrangements was obvious and even if it had not been the Directors of the Appellant company were specifically put on notice as a result of letters from the Traffic Area Office that they should not operate vehicles without a licence.

(xxxiv)  The Deputy Traffic Commissioner also held that the arrangements in this case had all the hallmarks of a ‘phoenix’ operation.  He took the view that this was an arrangement which could not be regarded as fair to other operators.  Having regard to this finding and the earlier findings the Deputy Traffic Commissioner concluded that the Appellant had failed to establish that it was of good repute, with the result that the application had to be refused.

(xxxv) The Appellant filed a Notice of Appeal dated 19th June 2008, which included ‘unperfected’ grounds of appeal.  Those grounds were superseded by perfected grounds, supported by a skeleton argument, for which we are grateful.

3. The matter came before the Tribunal on 10th September 2008.  At that stage the Appellant was represented by John Upton of counsel, instructed by Messrs Robert Locke, solicitors. It was apparent that what happened at the Public Inquiry raised important issues concerning the relationship between the operator’s licensing regime and the position of an Administrator of a company with an operator’s licence.  We decided that the appropriate course was to adjourn the hearing of the appeal in order to invite the Secretary of State for Transport to instruct Counsel to assist us in answering the questions set out in paragraphs 20-25 of the ‘Order’ adjourning the case.  A copy of that order is annexed to this decision.  The answers to the questions at paragraphs 20-24 will be apparent from what follows.  In the light of those answers the question at paragraph 25 does not arise.

4. Before the adjourned hearing of the appeal the Tribunal was notified that Mr. Upton and Messrs Robert Locke had been compelled to withdraw from the appeal.  Shortly before the hearing Mr. McNaughton wrote to the Tribunal to explain that he could not attend the hearing.  Instead he invited the Tribunal to deal with the matter in his absence.  He stressed that the Appellant had acted in good faith and argued that the Deputy Traffic Commissioner had placed too much emphasis on the failings of the Administrator, for which the Appellant was not responsible.  Meanwhile Mr. Nardell had been instructed on behalf of the Respondent.  He filed a written statement in accordance with Rule 22 of the Transport Tribunal Rules 2000.  It was agreed that it should be treated as the Respondent’s skeleton argument.  We are grateful to him for the very thorough and careful way in which he has responded to the questions raised by the Tribunal, both in writing and orally.   No skeleton argument has been filed on behalf of the Appellant.

5. We propose to deal first with several points in relation to the conduct of the Public Inquiry, including the important question of jurisdiction.  We will then provide some provisional guidance on the inter-relationship between operator licensing and administration and finally  consider the remaining grounds of appeal.

6. The first point taken on behalf of the Appellant is that the Deputy Traffic Commissioner failed to identify the proper representation of the parties.  In particular it was submitted that the Deputy Traffic Commissioner should have understood that neither Mr. McNaughton nor Mr. Marsh could speak on behalf of Haulage, because neither of them was the Administrator nor were they instructed by the Administrator.  The short answer to this point is that the matter was raised in the presence of Miss Beard, who did act with the authority of the Administrator, and she raised no objection to the fact that Mr. Marsh was happy to act for Haulage as well as the Appellant.  In our view there is nothing in this point.

7. Next it was submitted that the Deputy Traffic Commissioner relied on a document, the Administrator’s Proposals and Report, which he had failed to disclose to the Appellant.  In his written decision the Deputy Traffic Commissioner attributed the production of this document to Mr. McNaughton.  In the light of correspondence following the delivery of the written decision he accepted that this was an error and that the document was, in fact, produced by Miss Beard.  It is not entirely clear when she produced it but we assume that it was during rather than before the hearing.  The complaint made on behalf of the Appellant is that as a result of the late production of the report the Appellant was denied the opportunity to make informed submissions as to its veracity.  In our judgment it is impossible to sustain this submission in the face of the opening sentence of the relevant passage, (quoted at paragraph 2(viii) above).  That makes it clear that the conclusion that it would not be possible for the Administrator to trade the company was reached as a result of ‘discussions with the directors’.  In addition if the introduction of this document caused the Appellant any real difficulty the remedy was to apply for an adjournment.  No such application was made and this point too is without foundation.

8. The third point advanced in the grounds of appeal was that the Deputy Traffic Commissioner should have revoked the licence held by Haulage on the grounds of lack of financial standing alone and that he should not have considered the question of whether that company had lost its good repute.  We know of no authority for such a proposition nor have we been referred to any authority to that effect.  Collectively we have had experience of many cases where a Traffic Commissioner has made a finding of loss of financial standing and then gone on to make a finding of loss of good repute.  In our view there are considerable advantages in such a course though it will be for the Traffic Commissioner conducting a particular Public Inquiry to decide whether or not to make findings in relation to one or all of multiple issues where more than one ground for regulatory action has been raised in the call-up letter.  It follows that there is nothing in the third point.

9. We turn now to the question of whether the Deputy Traffic Commissioner had the right to take regulatory action against Haulage whilst it was in Administration.  Miss Beard submitted that he was debarred from so doing by paragraph 43(6) of Schedule B1 of the Insolvency Act 1986, (“paragraph 43(6)”), which was inserted by s. 248(2) and Schedule 16 of the Enterprise Act 2002.  Paragraph 43(6) provides as follows in relation to a company in administration:

“No legal process (including legal proceedings, execution, distress and diligence) may be instituted or continued against the company or property of the company except-

(a)
with the consent of the administrator, or

(b)
with the permission of the court.”
Miss Beard went on to submit that ‘legal proceedings’ should be widely construed to include quasi-legal proceedings and that that definition was wide enough to cover regulatory action by a Traffic Commissioner.  She added that there was a Court of Appeal decision to support such a wide construction.  In addition she submitted that an operator’s licence held by a company forms part of the ‘property of the company’, with the result that regulatory action could only be taken with the consent of the Administrator or the permission of the court, neither of which had been obtained.

10. Mr. Marsh took the point one step further.  He submitted that if there was any inconsistency between Paragraph 43(6) and Regulation 31 then the former, as the more recent of the two must be taken to have repealed the latter.

11. Mr. Nardell submitted that it was perfectly possible to construe and apply both the relevant regulations together rather than treating one as superseding the other.  In support of that submission he referred first to the fact that Regulation 31(2)(d) had been amended so that Regulation 31 now applies in the event “(d) in the case of a company, of the actual holder of the licence going into liquidation or entering administration”.  The underling is ours to isolate words added by the Enterprise Act (Insolvency) Order 2003.  That order came into force on 15th September 2003.  On the same day the provisions, which added Schedule B1 to the Insolvency Act, were also brought into force.  Mr. Nardell submitted that this provided the clearest possible indication of an intention that the two regulatory regimes were to be operated in tandem rather than that one should override the other.  He referred us to the case of R-v-Secretary of State for Social Services ex parte Chapman and Taylor, The Times February 5th 1996, where Keene J, (as he then was), adopted the same approach, though in relation to different statutory provisions.

12. Mr. Nardell went on to deal with the ‘implied repeal’ point which Mr. Marsh had raised.  He submitted that the principle of implied repeal only applied where the subject matter of the two statutes was the same, which is not the case here.  Furthermore he argued that reliance could not be placed on the principle that a specific statutory provision takes precedence over a general provision since both statutory regimes in the present case deal with specific subject-matter.  Instead he submitted that the different regimes should, as far as possible, be read together rather than in conflict.

13. Next Mr. Nardell submitted that Miss Beard was wrong to describe an operator’s licence as ‘property’, because such a licence is not transferable, (see s. 48 of the 1995 Act), and therefore has no value in the context of a company in administration.  He sought to distinguish the Court of Appeal decision in Official Receiver (as Liquidator of Celtic Extraction Ltd and Bluestone Chemicals Ltd) -v- Environment Agency [2001] Ch. 475, on the grounds that the licence in question in that case, (a waste management licence), was transferable and therefore did have value.  Mr. Nardell then went on to submit that a call-up letter under s. 26 or s. 27 of the 1995 Act is not a species of ‘proceedings against the company or property of the company’ it is instead the operation of statutory machinery to enable the Traffic Commissioner to examine whether the operator’s licence should remain in force, and if so, on what terms.

14. We are quite satisfied that the arguments advanced by Mr. Nardell are correct and that Regulation 31 and Paragraph 43(6) can be and should be read together.  There is therefore no bar on a Traffic Commissioner holding a Public Inquiry in relation to a company in administration, either to deal with issues raised in a call-up letter directed to the company or to deal with an application by the Administrator to exercise his discretion to ‘direct that a person carrying on the trade or business of the actual holder of the licence is to be treated for the purposes of the 1995 Act as if he were the holder thereof for such purpose and to such extent as is specified in the direction’ to quote from Regulation 31(4).  In other words this provision enables the Traffic Commissioner to exercise appropriate regulatory supervision, in terms of the 1995 Act, in relation to a company in administration.  Equally the exercise of this power does not frustrate the purpose of a company going into administration because it is not the kind of pre-emptive action by a creditor at which paragraph 43(6) is aimed.
15. We believe that it would be helpful to Traffic Commissioners and to Administrators if we express some provisional views about the consequences of administration in relation to a company holding an operators licence under the 1995 Act. We would also encourage the Secretary of State to consider issuing guidance to Traffic Commissioners and the professional bodies concerned with road haulage and companies in administration so that all concerned are alert to the kind of problems which can arise but with which they may well be unfamiliar.  One advantage of such a course would be that if the guidance was disputed the point could then be fully argued before the Tribunal.  In the course of the hearing of this appeal we were shown an example of the standard form of letter sent out when the Traffic Area Office becomes aware of any of the events referred to in Regulation 31 occurring in relation to any operator’s licence holder in their area.  In addition we were shown the form which is supplied to any person who wishes to make an application under Regulation 31.  No doubt such documents can be annexed to any guidance which is given.
16. Our provisional views are these:
(i)
 Save in exceptional circumstances the Directors of a company that goes into administration will have been aware that it was in financial difficulty for a sufficient period of time to enable them to inform the Traffic Commissioner of the material change in circumstances, ie the change in the company’s financial position.

(ii)
Failure to inform the Traffic Commissioner of a material change in circumstances may lead to adverse conclusions being drawn against those Directors who have failed in their duty to notify the Traffic Commissioner.

(iii) Once an Administrator is appointed he must decide whether or not to carry on the road haulage business of the company.  If he decides not to do so he should take immediate steps to surrender the licence and to return the discs for the authorised vehicles.

(iv)
 If the Administrator decides to carry on the road haulage business of the company, either personally or by appointing managers, he must make an application under Regulation 31.  Administrators will need to bear in mind that there are time limits on the duration of a direction under Regulation 31.

(v)
 Where the Administrator decides to appoint a manager or managers the terms of the agreement will need to be considered with care.  Taken as a whole the agreement must provide for the manager(s) to manage the business of the company in administration not, for example, to use the vehicles covered by the operator’s licence of the company in administration for the purposes of some other business.  An Administrator who makes an application under Regulation 31, on the basis that the business is to the operated by a manager, should provide the Traffic Commissioner with a copy of the agreement either with the Regulation 31 application or as soon afterwards as possible.

(vi) If the Administrator does nothing he should not be surprised if the company is called to a Public Inquiry on the grounds of loss of good repute, loss of financial standing and, perhaps, unlawful operation in breach of s. 2 of the 1995 Act.

(vii) If the company was called to a Public Inquiry before being put into administration there is no reason why that Public Inquiry should not continue.  If the Administrator decided to continue the road haulage business, by seeking a direction under Regulation 31, the convenient course is likely to be to consider both matters in the course of the same Public Inquiry.

(viii) If the company is in administration at the time of the Public Inquiry the primary issues are likely to be the good repute and financial standing of the Administrator and/or any manager appointed by the Administrator.  However if the previous Directors of the business, (or any of them), have been appointed to manage it then their good repute will also be in issue and any past conduct, especially in relation to the company before it went into administration, is likely to be relevant.   

(ix)
Where the person appointed to manage the company on behalf of the Administrator already holds an operator’ licence the convenient course is likely to involve the transfer of vehicles to that licence, with, if necessary, an application for a variation to increase the number of vehicles authorised, together with the revocation or surrender of the original licence.
17. Returning to the grounds of appeal advanced on behalf of the Appellant the next point taken is that the Deputy Traffic Commissioner failed to take into account, when considering the good repute of the Appellant, the shortcomings in the conduct of the Administrator and/or the effect of that appointment on the powers and responsibilities of the Directors of Haulage.  In our view the Deputy Traffic Commissioner was well aware of the shortcomings of the Administrator because he was critical of his failure to respond to the invitation to apply for a direction under Regulation 31, though he concluded that this was because the Administrator decided that he could not continue with the road haulage business of Haulage.  In our judgment the failures of the Administrator did not contribute to the conclusion that the Appellant had failed to establish that it was of good repute.  It follows that there is nothing in this point.
18. Next it was submitted that the Deputy Traffic Commissioner failed to have regard to all the evidence and so reached a decision, which was perverse.  We cannot agree with this submission.  In our view the agreement, when considered as a whole, is not an agreement for the Appellant to manage the business of Haulage, instead it is an agreement which permits the Appellant to use the vehicles specified on the Haulage licence for the purposes of a business which is being operated by the Appellant.  In other words the Appellant was using vehicles belonging to Haulage in breach of s. 2 of the 1995 Act, either because they were being used for ‘hire or reward’ or because they were being used ‘for or in connection with any trade or business’ carried on by the Appellant.  There are two main reasons for reaching that conclusion.  The first relates to the terms of the agreement and the second to the evidence at the Public Inquiry.
19. The basic structure of the agreement in this case was that the Appellant paid £1,000 per week for permission to use, amongst other things, the vehicles specified on the licence as well as the licence itself.  In addition the Appellant became responsible for paying many other expenses of the business of Haulage.  In return it would appear that the Appellant was to receive any money due to Haulage, after the commencement of the agreement, and such money was to belong to the Appellant.  In other words the intention of the agreement was that any profit made on the business done with the benefit of Haulage’s vehicles and its operator’s licence was to belong to the Appellant.  In our view references to the Appellant, as a manager, operating the business of Haulage, have to be viewed in this context.  When that is done the reality is that the Appellant was using the vehicles and the licence in order to conduct it’s own business, in breach of s. 2 of the 1995 Act.  Furthermore it continued to do so following warnings about unlawful use of vehicles belonging to Haulage.
20. The position is made even clearer when one considers the evidence of Mr. McNaughton quoted at paragraph 2(xxv) above.  In our judgment that evidence confirms, in the clearest terms, that the agreement was being operated to enable the Appellant to use the vehicles owned by Haulage ‘for or in connection with any trade or business’ carried on by the Appellant.  In other words the evidence of Mr. McNaughton amply confirms the conclusions which we have reached in relation to the construction of the agreement.  It follows that the Deputy Traffic Commissioner was fully justified in the conclusions which he reached in relation to the unlawfulness of the Appellant’s operation.   Furthermore the position was compounded by the fact that unlawful operations continued notwithstanding the warning from the Traffic Area Office. 
21. In our view the Deputy Traffic Commissioner was also entitled on the evidence to come to the conclusion that the Appellant was a ‘phoenix’ company.  Having reached that conclusion he was right to be concerned about the impact on fair competition, which is an important consideration in the operator’s licensing regime.
22. The final ground of appeal advanced on behalf of the Appellant was that in reaching a decision in relation to sanctions concerning the repute of the directors of the Appellant the Deputy Traffic Commissioner punished them disproportionately.  In our judgment that ground of appeal is misconceived for two reasons.  The first reason is that the favourable factors, such as a long period of operating Haulage without any prohibitions, tachograph infringements or MOT failures, could not begin to outweigh the unfavourable factors, as found by the Deputy Traffic Commissioner.  In other words there was nothing disproportionate about the Deputy Traffic Commissioner’s conclusion.  The second reason is that once the Deputy Traffic Commissioner concluded that the Appellant had failed to establish that it was of good repute, (as he was fully entitled to do), he was required, by the mandatory terms of s. 13(11) of the 1995 Act, to refuse the Appellant’s application for an operator’s licence.
23. In our judgment the Deputy Traffic Commissioner reached the correct conclusion, on the evidence put before him.  It follows that the appeal must be dismissed.
His Hon. Michael Brodrick 


       16th February 2009.

ANNEX

BRIAN HILL WASTE MANAGEMENT Ltd.

2008/410
___________

REASONS for REQUESTING the INSTRUCTION of AMICUS CURIAE

___________

1. This is an appeal against the decision of the Deputy Traffic Commissioner for the West Midland & Welsh Traffic Area to refuse the grant of a standard national operator’s licence.

Background.

2. In November 1999 a company called Brian Hill Haulage and Plant Ltd, (“Haulage”) was granted a Standard National operator’s licence authorising 59 vehicles and 1 trailer.  By September 2007 25 vehicles were in possession.

3. It was asserted on behalf of Haulage that between 1999 and September 2007 vehicles operated by Haulage were not the subject of any prohibitions or tachograph infringements nor did any of the vehicles fail an MOT test.  No evidence was presented by VOSA to confirm or contradict this.

4. In September 2007 a new company, Brian Hill Waste Management Ltd, (“Waste”) was incorporated.  The purpose was said to be the separation of the business so that 10 tipper lorries remained with Haulage while the waste management vehicles were transferred to Waste.

5. On 22nd September 2007 Waste applied for a Standard National operator’s licence authorising 25 vehicles and 1 trailer and asked for an interim licence.  20 of the vehicles, which were to be specified on the Waste licence, if granted, were already specified on the licence held by Haulage.  No indication of any link to Haulage was given in the application.  It would appear that the application was not received until 26th October 2007.  Further financial information had to be requested. 

6. By September 2007 the Directors of Haulage were in negotiation with the Inland Revenue to make monthly payments to reduce the amount of PAYE owed by the company.  In addition the directors of Haulage were also in negotiation with Customs and Excise in relation to unpaid VAT.  The stance adopted by Customs and Excise was that they would not accept monthly payments instead Waste was required to pay in full or take the consequences.  In evidence Mr McNaughton, a director of Waste said that while it was known in September 2007 that there was a considerable amount of debt it was not considered that Administration or Liquidation were options at that stage.

7. Notice of Intention to appoint an Administrator was given to the High Court on 5th October 2007 and an Administrator for Haulage was appointed by the High Court on 12th October 2007.  The Traffic Commissioner was not informed either that it was intended to apply for the appointment of an Administrator or that an Administrator had been appointed.

8. The Administrator entered into a Licence Agreement with Waste and its Directors, who were also Directors of Haulage.  The copies of the agreement in the papers are undated but bear a Fax date of 17th October 2007.  They are partially signed, though Solicitors for the Administrator confirmed, in a letter dated 31st March 2008, that they hold the original, executed by the Administrator.

9. The agreement defined the assets of Haulage as including the Operator’s Licence and ‘the Manager’ as Waste.  It provided that with effect from 5.00 pm on 12th October 2007 Haulage was to allow Waste, subject to the terms of the agreement, to use the assets for the purposes of the business, ie the business of haulage and plant hire formally operated by Haulage.  Waste agreed to pay a licence fee of £1,000 per week to Haulage acting by its Administrator.  In addition Waste agreed to pay ‘all expenses, outgoings and liabilities accruing or incurred in respect of the business of Haulage’.  Waste acknowledged that it did not acquire title to any of the assets of Haulage and it undertook to use them and to represent that it was carrying on the business of Haulage in a proper and businesslike manner and that it would comply with the directions of the Administrator.

10. It was argued that the effect of the agreement was to permit Waste to use the vehicles specified on the operator’s licence held by Haulage to carry on the business of Haulage subject to the terms of the agreement and to any direction given by the Administrator.  Waste took on the responsibility, amongst other things, for paying the wages of the drivers and the cost of maintaining the vehicles.  Waste invoiced customers for the material transported.  Waste had the benefit of any profit once the licence fee and the other bills had been paid.  During evidence at the Public Inquiry it appeared to be accepted that the employees remained in the employment of Haulage even though they were paid by Waste.

11. No application was made by the Administrator to the Traffic Commissioner under Regulation 31 of the Goods Vehicles (Licensing of Operators) Regulations 1995, [“Regulation 31”], for a direction that the Administrator should be treated for the purposes of the operator’s licensing legislation ‘as if he were the holder of the licence’.

12. On 2nd January 2008 the application by Waste for an Interim Licence was refused and Waste was reminded that it should not commence operating until granted authority to do so.  On 7th February 2008 BC Hill wrote to the Traffic Commissioner on behalf of Waste saying that the vehicles in respect of which the Interim Licence had been requested “are currently being operated by us on behalf of Haulage”.  The Traffic Commissioner was asked to reconsider the decision to refuse an Interim Licence.

13. On 13th February 2008 the Traffic Area Office replied indicating that the request for an Interim Licence was again refused.  The letter continued: “The Traffic Commissioner has asked me to inform you that your vehicles should not be operated under the licence held by Brian Hill Haulage and Plant Hire Ltd, ….. , which is currently in administration.  He has asked me to remind you that if you do operate vehicles without a valid licence it will be a very serious matter which would go against your repute.”

14. On 26th February 2008 a vehicle specified on the Haulage licence and displaying a licence disc in the name of Haulage was stopped.  Tachograph charts indicated that the vehicle was in regular use.  The driver was in possession of a Delivery Note issued by Waste relating to the journey in question. 

15. Both Haulage and Waste were called to a Public Inquiry, which was held on 17th April 2008.  At the start of the Public Inquiry it appeared to be conceded that the licence held by Haulage would have to be revoked.  At a later stage Miss Beard, from the Solicitors acting for the Administrator, drew attention to paragraph 43(6) of Schedule B1to the Insolvency Act 1986, (inserted by the Enterprise Act 2002), [“Schedule B1”].  She submitted that the effect of that provision was that the Deputy Traffic Commissioner could only hold a Public Inquiry in relation to Haulage with the consent of the Administrator or the permission of the Court, neither of which had been obtained.  Although invited to provide written submissions on the point none were supplied.  The Deputy Traffic Commissioner went on to revoke the licence held by Haulage on the dual grounds of lack of repute and lack of appropriate financial standing.

16. Mr. McNaughton gave evidence for Waste in his capacity as a Director of the company.  He said that he believed that the Administrator had the power, under the provisions introduced by the Enterprise Act 2002, to enter into the Licence Agreement and that Waste could lawfully manage the business of Haulage and use the vehicles owned by Haulage, as a result of the provisions of that Act.  He indicated that Waste had received independent advice, but neither the request for advice nor the advice itself was disclosed.  Miss Beard indicated that the Administrator also believed that he was acting lawfully and in good faith in order to rescue the company.

17. Mr. McNaughton went on to say that as far as he was concerned the vehicles were being operated on behalf of Haulage and that Waste had kept up the maintenance agreement and paid for all the maintenance and tachograph analysis, in effect maintaining the operator’s licence responsibilities of Haulage.

18. In response to the request from the Deputy Traffic Commissioner Mr. Marsh provided written submissions.  He submitted that the licence held by Haulage had not been transferred or assigned to Waste in contravention of s.48 of the Goods Vehicles (Licensing of Operators) Act 1995, ['the 1995 Act'] and that the user of the vehicles was still the operator because Waste was managing the business of Haulage, so that there was no breach of s.2 of the 1995 Act.  He further submitted that the directors of Waste were entitled to rely on paragraph 59(3) of Schedule B1 which provides that: “a person who deals with the administrator of a company in good faith and for value need not inquire whether the administrator is acting within his powers”.

19. In a written decision the Deputy Traffic Commissioner concluded that Waste was specifically created to continue the business of Haulage and that the directors of Haulage deliberately failed to inform the Traffic Commissioner of the material change in the financial circumstances of that company.  He concluded that the arrangements between Haulage and Waste were unlawful because in reality it was Waste not Haulage which was trading, after the appointment of the Administrator, and Waste did not have an operator’s licence.  The Deputy Traffic Commissioner decided that the arrangement had all the hallmarks of Waste being a ‘phoenix company’, with obvious implications for fair competition.  He concluded that Waste had not established that it was of good repute and accordingly refused to grant it an operator’s licence.

Issues on which further assistance is requested.

20. In general terms it was submitted that where there was a conflict between the provisions of the Enterprise Act 2002, [“the 2002 Act”] and the provisions of the Operator’s Licensing legislation the former must be taken to have effected an implied repeal of the latter.  Is this correct?

21. Do the provisions of the 2002 Act entitle an Administrator to carry on the trade or business of the company in administration, including the use of any operator’s licence held by the company, without the need for an application under regulation 31 of the 1995 Regulations?

22. If an application under Regulation 31 is still required, (but has not been made), and the Administrator continues to operate vehicles specified in the licence, is the Traffic Commissioner immediately entitled to call the company to a Public Inquiry, with a view to revoking the licence, or must the Traffic Commissioner first obtain the consent of the Administrator or the permission of the Court under paragraph 43(6) of Schedule B1?  Does the answer to this question apply whenever a Traffic Commissioner seeks to call a company in Administration to a Public Inquiry for whatever reason?  (see Environment Agency-v-Administrator of Rhondda Waste Disposal Ltd. [2000] EWCA Civ 38, in particular paragraph 27).

23. Is Waste entitled to use vehicles specified on the licence held by Haulage, in accordance with the Licence Agreement, or does such use contravene s.2 of the 1995 Act?

24. If such use by Waste does not contravene s.2 of the 1995 Act is it open to any holder of an operator’s licence to enter into a similar kind of Licence Agreement or is the use of such agreements confined to a company in administration?

25. In view of the terms of s.59(3) of Schedule B1 were the Directors of Waste, (and therefore Waste itself), entitled to assume that the Administrator was acting within his powers and that, accordingly, they could use the vehicles specified on the operator’s licence held by Haulage, without contravening s.2 of the 1995 Act?

Conclusion

26. We are conscious of the fact that Haulage has not appealed the revocation of its licence, with the result that the answers to some of the questions posed above may not be necessary for the purpose of resolving the current appeal.  We are also conscious of the fact that the question at paragraph 24 is hypothetical.  We have included all these questions for three reasons.  First, the findings in relation to Waste are closely connected with the position of Haulage.  Second, this is an area of law with which Traffic Commissioners cannot be expected to be familiar.  In the current economic climate it may be that a number of companies holding operator’s licences will go into administration.  Raising all the questions at this stage will mean that more general guidance can be given, if that appears to be appropriate.  Third, it seems to us that there are potentially serious implications for the operator’s licensing regime if any licence holder can enter into the type of agreement which lies at the heart of this case and then permit vehicles specified under its licence to be used by a different entity, without there being any contravention of s.2 of the 1995 Act.  If Counsel is to be instructed to assist the Tribunal on these issues it is important, in our view, that he or she should have sufficient experience of the law relating to operator’s licensing to be able to assess the wider implications of the issues raised.








Michael Brodrick







16th September 2008
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